No. 47205-8-II
Clark County Superior Court No. 13-1-01035-6

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON
DIVISION TWO

STATE OF WASHINGTON,
Plaintiff-Appellee,

v.

JOHN GARRETT SMITH,
Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF
WASHINGTON FOR CLARK COUNTY

The Honorable Robert Lewis, Judge

AMENDED APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

JOHN HENRY BROWNE
Attorney for John Garrett Smith
Defendant-Appellant

LAW OFFICES OF JOHN HENRY BROWNE, P.S.
200 Delmar Building
108 South Washington Street
Seattle, WA 98104
(206) 388-0777

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The trial court erred in failing to suppress any evidence obtained from John Garrett Smith's telephone.
2. The trial court erred in concluding that "RCW 9.73.030(1) does not apply to this case because the people...were not attempting to communicate by electronic means." Conclusion of Law 7.
3. The trial court erred in concluding that RCW 9.73.030(1)(b) applies only when "two people are having a private, non-electronic, conversation and a third party attempts to record or intercept that conversation." Conclusion of Law 8.
4. The trial court erred in concluding that RCW 9.73.030(1)(b) does not apply in this case "because this information was recorded by the Defendant's phone inadvertently." Conclusion of Law 9.
5. The trial court erred in concluding that Smith's stepdaughter Skylar was not violating RCW 9.73.030 when she "opened the phone and listened to the contents." Conclusion of Law 11.
6. The trial court erred in concluding that none of the information gathered "up until the point that Officer Yong listened to the phone recording was gathered illegally." Conclusion of Law 13.

II.
ISSUE PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. Where the defendant's stepdaughter took his phone without his consent, accessed its contents and listened to a recording on the phone without the consent of both participants to that private communication and then gave that private communication to the police, did the stepdaughter violate Washington's Privacy Act and should the evidence of this private communication have been suppressed?

III.
STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Procedural Facts

On June 6, 2013, John Garrett Smith [Garrett]¹ was charged with first degree assault against his wife, Sheryl Smith [Sheryl]. CP 130. On December 10, 2013, the State amended the information to charge one count of attempted first degree murder and nine counts of violating a domestic violence protection order. CP 132. The nine counts of violating the domestic violence order were later dismissed. On October 7, 2014, the State again amended the information to charge one count of attempted first degree murder, one count of attempted second degree murder, one count of first degree assault and one count of second degree assault. CP 1.

¹ Because two of the witnesses have the same last name, counsel will use their first names in order to avoid confusion.

Garrett waived his right to a jury trial. At the close of the bench trial, Judge Robert Lewis found him not guilty of attempted first degree murder and not guilty of first degree assault. He did, however, find Garrett guilty of attempted second degree murder and second degree assault. CP 83.

The court found that these two crimes merged for purposes of sentencing. He also found that the State had failed to prove facts sufficient to impose an exceptional sentence. Thus, the trial court imposed a standard range sentence of 144 months in jail. CP 99. This timely appeal followed. CP 112.

2. Facts Relevant To The Substantive Issues.

On June 2, 2013, Sheryl Smith [Sheryl] called 911 from her home in Vancouver, WA and reported that her husband, John Garrett Smith [Garrett], “beat me up.” RP 185. Garrett had then driven away in his truck. Id.

While Sheryl was on the phone with the 911 operator, her daughter Skylar, age 18, walked in. RP 189. Skylar took over the call and directed police to the home. RP 190. She reported that her mother’s face was swollen to such an extent that she could not open her eyes. Id. Skylar reported that she had been at the gym and did not witness any assault. RP 194. But, she did report that she had left the

house because both Sheryl and Garrett had been drinking and arguing. RP 194. She said that Garrett had never hurt her mother before. Id.

When asked for Garrett's cell phone number, Skylar told the operator that Garrett had left the phone in the home. RP 196. Sheryl was transported to the hospital.

Skylar followed her mother to the hospital. She took Garrett's phone with her. At hospital, Skylar handed Officer Yong the phone and said: "I think you need to hear this." RP 60. She then played a recording from the phone on the speaker function. The recording included a man using obscenities and demanding the return of his phone. RP 205. There was a woman who stated "stop" and "leave me alone." The male states: "Just give me my phone and I will go." Id, Ex. 2. The call also included the male yelling at the female, calling her a bitch and stating "I will kill you." RP 241-242. This recording was admitted as Exhibit 2 at trial.

The police then sought a search warrant for the phone based upon Officer Yong's listening to the recording at Skylar's request.

At trial, Sheryl testified that on the date of the incident, she had been drinking. RP 234. After dinner she went down to sit on the beach and asked her daughter Skylar and Garrett to join her. When they did not arrive, she called them 8 times. RP 322.

When asked what she remembered regarding the assault, she said:

I'm being strangled. Garrett's on top of me. My face is being punched. I feel like I'm in a very dark place inside my head, and there punches, and I'm being called a fat bitch, and I thought I was going to die.

RP 238. She passed out. RP 240.

Sheryl was asked to identify the two voices on Exhibit 2, the recording from Garrett's phone. RP 241. She identified her voice and the voice of Garrett. Sheryl testified that she did not have any independent recollection of this exchange. RP 243.

The remainder of Sheryl's testimony was devoted to her description of the extent of her injuries and recovery. A number of her treatment providers testified as well.

Garrett testified that his wife was exaggerating her injuries in order to gain control of his business while he was in custody. RP 765-68. He described her as very intoxicated on the evening of June 2. RP 772. He stated that he, too, had been drinking and had taken some opiate painkillers. RP 774, 784. He testified that Sheryl started the physical altercation and her injuries were incurred when he tried to get her to stop attacking him. RP 775-780.

Garrett said that the physical altercation had ended by the time his cell phone began recording. RP 780-81. He said that he never intended to make a recording of his interaction with his wife. RP 780. He had simply called his cell phone from the house phone in an attempt to locate it by its ring. RP 781. He said the statement about wanting to kill his wife was hyperbole and that he never literally intended to kill her. RP 782.

Garrett denied strangling his wife. RP 782. He said that she was conscious throughout the encounter. RP 783.

IV. ARGUMENT

A. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO SUPPRESS THE PRIVATE COMMUNICATION INTERCEPTED BY THE DEFENDANT'S STEPDAUGHTER.

Prior to trial, Garrett moved to suppress the recording Skylar accessed on his phone citing to Washington's Privacy Act, RCW 9.73. The trial court found that the Privacy Act did not apply. This Court reviews de novo a trial court's legal conclusions on a motion to suppress. *State v. Roden*, 179 Wn.2d 893, 898, 321 P.3d 1183 (2014).

Washington's privacy act, RCW Chapter 9.73, broadly protects individuals' privacy rights. *Roden*, at 898. It is one of the most restrictive electronic surveillance laws ever promulgated. *State v.*

Fajford, 128 Wn.2d 476, 481, 910 P.2d 447 (1996) (citing *State v. O'Neill*, 103 Wn.2d 853, 878, 700 P.2d 711 (1985) (Dore, J., concurring in part, dissenting in part)). The act prohibits anyone not operating under a court order from intercepting or recording certain communications without the consent of all parties. RCW 9.73.030, .040, .090(2). There are four prongs this Court must consider when analyzing alleged violations of the privacy act. There must have been (1) a private communication transmitted by a device, which was (2) intercepted or recorded by use of (3) a device designed to record and/or transmit (4) without the consent of all parties to the private communication. *State v. Christensen*, 153 Wn.2d 186, 192, 102 P.3d 789 (2004).

There is no question that a cell phone is an electronic device designed to record or transmits communications. There is no question that a private conversation was recorded by Garrett's cell phone. There is no dispute that neither Garrett nor Sheryl "consented" to the recording. The court found that Garrett's intent in calling his phone was to locate it. Finding of Fact 3.

The question of whether a particular communication is private is generally a question of fact, but one that may be decided as a question of law if the facts are undisputed. *Roden* at 900. The possibility that

an unintended party can intercept a text message due to his or her possession of another's cell phone is not sufficient to destroy a reasonable expectation of privacy in such a message. *Id.* at 901. Here the recorded conversation was private. It was conducted in the privacy of the Smith home. Moreover, it was an action designed solely to help Garrett find his own phone. He did not even “consent” to the recording in the sense that he was unaware that once the land line made contact with his cell phone, the cell phone would begin recording whatever conversation it intercepted.

The trial court found however that RCW 9.73 did not apply because no “third party” was attempting to record or intercept the conversation. But that is too narrow a view of the term “intercept.” Here Skylar “intercepted” the recording without the permission of the either party to the conversation. She did not have permission to take Garrett’s phone, open it, and listen to the messages. As the trial judge acknowledged, RCW 9.73 applies to all citizens of this state. *State v. Faford*, 128 Wn.2d 476, 479, 910 P.2d 447, 448 (1996) (Witness purchased a police scanner specifically to eavesdrop on the radio portion of those cordless telephone conversations and then related their substance to the police). Her act of opening the phone and reviewing

its contents was an action of “interception” and was prohibited by the Privacy Act.

In interpreting a statute, this court's primary obligation is to give effect to the legislature's intent. This inquiry always begins with the plain language of the statute. The court must not add words where the legislature has chosen not to do so. Additionally, where the statute is subject to more than one reasonable interpretation, this court may look to other sources of legislative intent, such as the legislative history. *State v. Christensen*, 153 Wn.2d 186, 195, 102 P.3d 789, 793 (2004).

Clearly RCW 9.73 protects recorded phone messages. It’s plain language applies to “[p]rivate communication transmitted by telephone, telegraph, radio, or other device between two or more individuals between points within or without the state by any device electronic or otherwise *designed to record.*” RCW 9.73.030. The privacy act prohibits recording of any “[p]rivate conversation, by any device electronic or otherwise designed to record or transmit such conversation regardless how the device is powered or actuated without first obtaining the consent of all the persons engaged in the conversation.” *State v. Kipp*, 179 Wn.2d 718, 724, 317 P.3d 1029, 1031 (2014).

Nothing in the Act limits its reach to “intentional” rather than “inadvertent” recordings. If that were true then many conversations would have no protection at all even though all parties to the conversation never intended their private communications to be recorded. Nothing in the Act requires the interception to be made by a third party. In fact, in many cases, the recording has been made by one party to the conversation. See e.g. *State v. Kipp*, 179 Wn.2d 718, 723, 317 P.3d 1029, 1031 (2014).

This case is on all fours with *State v. Roden*, supra. In that case, a police detective spent 5 to 10 minutes browsing through a cell phone officers took from Daniel Lee incident to his arrest for possession of heroin. The detective noticed several text messages from Jonathan Roden, responded to Roden with a new text message, and arranged a drug deal. Roden was consequently arrested.

In *Roden*, the Court specifically rejected the argument that because the text messages were in electronic storage, they fell outside the scope of the Privacy Act. *Roden*, 906, 321 P.3d 1183, 1189 (2014). The Court held that was “a technicality that has no relevance under our state statute.” *Id.*

Here Garrett’s private communication was recorded inadvertently on his phone. Just like the police in *Roden*, Garrett’s

step-daughter took his phone without his consent and listened to his private communications. She then turned the private communications over to the police. Her interception of the phone message violated the privacy act. Thus, Exhibit 2 and all references to it should have been excluded by the trial judge.

B. THE ADMISSION OF THE INTERCEPTED PRIVATE CONVERSATION WAS PREJUDICIAL.

Failure to suppress evidence obtained in violation of the Privacy Act is prejudicial unless, within reasonable probability, the erroneous admission of the evidence did not materially affect the outcome of the trial. *State v. Porter*, 98 Wash.App. 631, 638, 990 P.2d 460 (1999).

Garrett was charged with attempted second degree murder under RCW 9A.32.050(1)(a). One element of that crime is the “intent to cause the death of another.” *Id.* In his written findings of fact and in his oral decision, the trial judge clearly rested his finding that Garrett had formed an intent to kill Sheryl on the intercepted phone message. Finding of Fact RP 854.

Absent that finding, Garrett could not be convicted of attempted second degree murder. Thus, the introduction of the