NO. 47205-8-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON  
DIVISION II

---

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent

v.

JOHN GARRETT SMITH, Appellant

---

FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR CLARK COUNTY  
CLARK COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT CAUSE NO.13-1-01035-6

---

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

---

Attorneys for Respondent:

ANTHONY F. GOLIK  
Prosecuting Attorney  
Clark County, Washington

AARON T. BARTLETT, WSBA #39710  
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney

Clark County Prosecuting Attorney  
1013 Franklin Street  
PO Box 5000  
Vancouver WA 98666-5000  
Telephone (360) 397-2261

**

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

#### ARGUMENT

**I. When the defendant's stepdaughter listened to a recording on defendant's cellular phone that contained the sounds of defendant's attempt to murder his wife she did not intercept a private communication or private conversation in violation of the Privacy Act.**

Washington's Privacy Act generally makes it unlawful "for any individual . . . to intercept (1) any "[p]rivate communication transmitted by telephone . . . between two or more individuals between points . . . without first obtaining the consent of all the participants in the communication;" or (2) any "[p]rivate conversation, by any device electronic or otherwise designed to record or transmit such conversation...

without first obtaining the consent of all the persons engaged in the conversation.” RCW 9.73.030(1)(a)-(b); *State v. Modica*, 164 Wn.2d 83, 87, 186 P.3d 1062 (2008). Information obtained in violation of the Privacy Act is inadmissible in a criminal trial. RCW 9.73.050; *Modica*, 164 Wn.2d at 83.

A trial court’s legal conclusions following a motion to suppress based on an alleged violation of the Privacy Act are reviewed de novo. *State v. Roden*, 179 Wn.2d 893, 898, 321 P.3d 1183 (2014). Furthermore, while whether a communication or conversation is private under the Privacy Act is a question of fact, it may be reviewed as a question of law where the facts are not in dispute. *State v. Townsend*, 147 Wn.2d 666, 673, 57 P.3d 255 (2002) (citing *State v. Clark*, 129 Wn.2d 211, 225, 916 P.2d 384 (1996)). In addition, a reviewing court “can affirm on any grounds supported by the record.” *State v. Huynh*, 107 Wn.App. 68, 74 26 P.3d 290 (2001) (citing *State v. Bryant*, 97 Wn.App. 479, 490-91, 983 P.2d 1181 (1999)); *State v. Bobic*, 140 Wn.2d 250, 259, 996 P.2d 610 (2000); RAP 2.4(a), 5.1(d).

**II. The recording at issue was not of a “private communication” as properly understood under RCW 9.73.030(1)(a) or of a “private conversation” under RCW 9.73.030(1)(b).**

Mr. Smith assumes, without providing specific argument,<sup>2</sup> that the recording at issue was of a “private communication” under subsection (a) and/or of a “private conversation” under subsection (b), and seemingly uses the phrases “private communication” and “private conversation interchangeably despite there being a clear legal difference between the two. Br. of App. at 7-11; *State v. Roggenkamp*, 153 Wn.2d 614, 625, 106 P.3d 196 (2005) (A “fundamental rule of statutory construction is that the legislature is deemed to intend a different meaning when it uses different terms.”) (citations omitted). RCW 9A.73.030(1)(a) only prohibits the intercepting of a “private communication” when that “communication [is] *transmitted by telephone . . . or other device between two or more individuals between points. . . without first obtaining the consent of all the participants in the communication.*” (emphasis added). Thus, subsection (a), based on its plain meaning and its differences with subsection (b), only applies to communications where all the individuals involved in the communication are utilizing a device to communicate. Simply put, subsection (a) prohibits a person from recording or intercepting a phone

---

<sup>2</sup> “There is no question that a private conversation was recorded by Garrett’s cell phone.” Br. of App. at 7.

call between people, text messages between people, or any other communication where each person is utilizing an electronic medium.

For example, in *State v. Christensen*, the defendant called his girlfriend on the telephone and, unbeknownst to him or his girlfriend, his girlfriend's mother activated the speakerphone function of the cordless telephone system by pressing a button on the base unit in order to listen in on their conversation. 153 Wn.2d 186, 190-91, 102 P.3d 789 (2004). Despite the fact that the defendant and his girlfriend were indisputably having a "conversation," the focus of the analysis was not whether they were having "private conversation" under subsection (b), but whether it was a "private communication" under subsection (a) because of the method by which they were communicating, i.e., with each on a telephone over a telephone line. *Id.* at 191-193. Consequently, the trial court here was correct when it concluded:

6. RCW 9.73.030(1)(a) applies to private communications by electronic means, and that conversation is intercepted by a third party.

7. RCW 9.73.030(1)(a) does not apply to this case because the people in the room where the recording took place, Ms. Smith and the Defendant, were not attempting to communicate by electronic means. Neither party attempted to communicate by electronic means.

CP 92 (Conclusions of Law #6 and #7). Here, when Mr. Smith inadvertently recorded what was going on in the room during the incident

via his cellphone, neither he nor Ms. Smith were communicating with the other by way of a phone or over a phone line. Subsection (a), therefore, does not apply to the recording at issue.

RCW 9A.73.030(1)(b) prohibits the intercepting of a “[p]rivate conversation, by any device electronic or otherwise designed to record or transmit such conversation . . . without first obtaining the consent of all the persons engaged in the conversation.” Subsection (b) then applies to all private conversations in which the parties conversing are not utilizing a device or electronic medium. For example, in *State v. Kipp*, the defendant, who was accused of sexually assaulting two of his nieces, was confronted by his nieces’ father about the accusations. 179 Wn.2d 718, 723-24, 317 P.3d 1029 (2014). The conversation that ensued between the two men was secretly recorded by the father and took place face-to-face. *Id.* Accordingly, the issue in *Kipp* was whether the recording was of a “private conversation” under subsection (b) not whether it was a “private communication” under subsection (a). *Id.* at 724, 729-733.

*State v. Smith* is instructive as to whether the recording at issue here was of a “private conversation.” 85 Wn.2d 840, 540 P.2d 424 (1975). There, the victim in the case received a phone call to meet a person in an alley in the evening. *Id.* at 842. He then purchased a tape recorder, which he concealed under his clothing and attached the microphone to his shirt.

*Id.* at 843. The victim asked his next-door neighbor to accompany him. *Id.* The victim parked his car near the alley, exited his car, and walked towards the alley while his neighbor remained near the car. *Id.* The victim met the defendant, who was in the alley parked in a truck, and the defendant shot the victim several times, killing him. *Id.*

The tape recording of the events was found on the victim's body during an autopsy. *Smith*, 85 Wn.2d at 843. The recording contradicted the defendant's statement and testimony. *Id.* 843-44. The recording contained the following:

The tape begins with remarks by [the victim], introducing [his neighbor] and stating his destination. The two men discuss the walkietalkies and other arrangements, and [the victim] starts toward the designated alley. As he walks he narrates, describing the scene around him and describing with particular care each person in the vicinity. Remarking, 'Everything looks quite normal,' he says he is turning into the upper part of the alley. Then, suddenly are heard the sounds of running footsteps and shouting, the words 'Hey!' and 'Hold it!', [the victim] saying 'Dave Smith,' and a sound resembling a gunshot. The running stops, and Smith tells [the victim] to turn around. [The victim] asks, 'What's the deal?' Smith replies, 'You know what the deal is. I'll tell you one thing baby, you have had it.'

Several more words are exchanged, not all of which are clearly intelligible, about whether Smith has 'a charge.' Then [the victim] asks, 'If you wanted me, why didn't you come to see me?' Smith replies, 'I'll tell you why.' A moment later, another shot is heard. The quality of the recording becomes 'tinny.' (There was expert testimony that this shot damaged the microphone.) Then [the victim], screaming, repeatedly begs for his life. More shots are



fired. There is a slight pause, two more shots are heard, then certain unclear sounds, then silence. After a period of nearly complete silence, a voice is heard to say, 'We've already called the police.' Another voice says, 'Hey, I think this guy's dead, man.' Afterward, the tape records police sirens and the sounds of the officers investigating.

*Id.* at 844-45. *Smith* held that the recording was not of a "private conversation" under the Privacy Act stating "[w]e are convinced that the events here involved do not comprise 'private conversation' within the meaning of the statute. Gunfire, running, shouting, and [the victim's] screams do not constitute 'conversation' within *that term's ordinary connotation of oral exchange, discourse, or discussion.*" *Id.* at 846 (emphasis added). Notably, however, the court did not attempt to definitively define "private conversation" and did note that its holding was based on the "bizarre facts" of the case. *Id.* at 847. That said, the facts of this case regarding how the recording was made and what was captured are legally indistinguishable from *Smith* and equally unique.

Here, Mr. Smith accidentally recorded his attempted murder of his wife when, in an effort to find his cellphone, he called his cellphone from the home's landline and the cellphone's voicemail recorded what was going on in the room. And what was going on was similar to *Smith* as it pertains to whether a conversation took place. Ms. Smith spends the recording screaming, crying, and pleading for Mr. Smith to "get away,"

while Mr. Smith yells at her, assaults her, and threatens to kill her. RP 70-71, 241-43; CP 78-80, 84 (Finding of Fact #1.7), 85 (Finding of Fact #3.3), 86 (Finding of Fact #4.1, #4.4, #4.5); Ex. 2. Consequently, what was recorded was not a “conversation” within that term’s ordinary meaning; it was not “discourse[] or discussion” between Mr. Smith and Ms. Smith captured on the recording, it was Ms. Smith being victimized. *Smith*, 85 Wn.2d at 846. Because there was not a “private conversation” under the Privacy Act, subsection (b) does not apply to recording at issue.

Thus, neither subsection (a) or (b) of the Privacy Act apply to the recording at issue. Accordingly, Ms. Williams’s actions when she listened to the audio recording on Mr. Smith’s cellphone cannot be considered unlawful under the Privacy Act and the audio recording was properly admitted into evidence.

**III. There was no interception of a “private communication” or of a “private conversation.”**

Even assuming there was a “private communication” under subsection (a) or a “private conversation” under subsection (b), there was no interception of either by Ms. Williams when she listened to the audio recording on Mr. Smith’s cellphone. Our Privacy Act is longstanding, and “[s]ince 1909, [it] . . . has protected sealed messages, letters, and telegrams from being opened or read by someone other than the *intended* recipient.”

*Kipp*, 179 Wn.2d at 724 (emphasis added); RCW 9.73.020. Additionally, in 1967 “the legislature amended the act in order to keep pace with the changing nature of electronic communications and in recognition of the fact that there was no law that prevented eavesdropping.” *Id.* (citation omitted). Thus, by 1967 the law prohibited the intercepting of sealed message and letters as well as electronic communications.

“Intercept,” however, is not defined in the Privacy Act, so our Supreme Court has given the term its plain and ordinary meaning, which is to “stop . . . before arrival . . . or interrupt the progress or course.” *Roden* 179 Wn.2d at 904 (citing WEBSTER'S THIRD NEW INTERNATIONAL DICTIONARY 1176 (2002)). In *State v. Roden*, our Supreme Court recently fleshed out the concept of what constitutes an “interception” in the context of text messaging. *Id.* at 903-907. There, a person was arrested for a drug crime and had his phone seized by the police. *Id.* at 897. A detective in possession of that phone saw a text message from a contact (the defendant) that appeared to be about a drug transaction. *Id.* The detective posed as the recently arrested person and exchanged a series of text messages with the defendant setting up a purported drug deal. *Id.* When the defendant arrived to conduct the deal he was arrested and charged with attempted possession of heroin as a result of his communications. *Id.*

*Roden* held that the defendant’s private communications (the text messages) were intercepted because the messages the defendant sent to the arrested person “were opened, read, and responded to by an officer before they reached” the arrested person. 179 Wn.2d 904. Importantly, the court noted that “the detective here intercepted text messages *directed* to an actual acquaintance.” *Id.* (emphasis added). Simply put, there was an interception because the detective accessed the “incoming text messages before they reached” the intended recipient. *Id.* at 906.<sup>3</sup>

Despite Mr. Smith’s claims to the contrary,<sup>4</sup> *Roden* is easily distinguishable from this case. First, the mode of the communication is completely different. Second, unlike *Roden*, there is an inadvertent recording made by the defendant. Third, to the extent there is a “private communication” or “private conversation” here, this communication is not directed to a recipient. Fourth, Ms. Williams, unlike the detective in *Roden*, did not “intercept[] . . . incoming . . . messages before they reached” the intended recipient—she listened to an inadvertently made recording, which undeniably was not a communication Mr. Smith sent to himself. 179 Wn.2d at 904, 906. Simply put, Ms. Williams did not interpose herself between the communicator and a specific communicatee

---

<sup>3</sup> *Roden* purposefully did not address “[w]hether it is also a violation of the act to access text messages that have already been received by the intended recipient and remain in storage.” *Id.* at 906.

<sup>4</sup> “This case is on all fours with *State v. Roden*.” Br. of App. at 10.

when she listened to the recording and, thus, there was no interception. This conclusion comports with the plain and ordinary meaning of “intercept” adopted by our Supreme Court—to stop before arrival or interrupt the progress or course—and with its analysis in *Roden*. Because there was no interception of a “private communication” or of a “private conversation” the evidence was properly admitted.

**IV. Any error in admitting the recording of Mr. Smith’s attempt to murder his wife was harmless.**

“Failure to suppress evidence obtained in violation of the [Privacy Act] is prejudicial unless, within reasonable probability, the erroneous admission of the evidence did not materially affect the outcome of the trial.” *Christensen*, 153 Wn.2d at 200 (citation omitted). Here, the trial court made the following Findings of Fact on the Attempted Murder in the Second Degree the charge that related to the admitted recording:

4.1 The Defendant formed the intent to kill Ms. Smith and is heard telling Ms. Smith that "I will kill you" and then proceeds to beat her in the head and strangle her.

...

4.4 In the moment when the Defendant told his wife, "I am going to kill you," the Court finds beyond a reasonable doubt that killing his wife was his exact intent. The Defendant did not say this because he was angry at his wife, or for some other reason. He said it because he meant it.

CP 86. Thus, the State readily concedes that Mr. Smith's statements on the recording were probative of his intent and relied upon by the trial judge.

Nonetheless, the State does not concede that the admission of the recording, within reasonable probability, affected the outcome of the trial, i.e., that there was a reasonable probability he would have been acquitted of Attempted Murder in the Second Degree had the recording not been admitted. This is because the trial court concluded "beyond a reasonable doubt, *based on all of the evidence presented*, that the Defendant formed the intent to kill his wife. After he formed that intent, the Defendant took a substantial step towards killing Ms. Smith as he continued to beat and strangle her." CP 86 (Conclusion of Law #4.1) (emphasis added). This evidence included (1) the court's finding that the "Defendant strangled his wife into unconsciousness and when the Defendant saw Ms. Smith was not breathing, that apparently stopped him from continuing the attack;" (2) Ms. Smith's serious injuries and condition after the attack; and (3) Mr. Smith's flight, admission to being at the airport, luggage packed in his truck, and question put toward a detective as to whether Ms. Smith was "going to make it." CP 86 (Finding of Fact #2); RP 410-11, 636, 649-50. Thus, even absent the audio recording of the incident, there was ample evidence of an intent to murder Ms. Smith. Consequently, any error in admitting the recording was harmless.

**CONCLUSION**

For the reasons argued above, Mr. Smith's conviction should be affirmed.